

iNEMI Recommendations on Lead-Free Finishes for Components Used in High-Reliability Products Version 4 (12-1-06)

Authors/members of the iNEMI Tin Whisker User Group (listed in alphabetical order by company name):

Dr. John Lau Mr. Joe Smetana, Chairman Dr. Richard Coyle, Co-Chairman Mr. Sean McDermott Mr. Kevin A. Weston Dr. C.J. Lee Mr. Richard Parker Ms. Elizabeth Benedetto Dr. Greg Henshall Dr. George T. Galyon Mr. Ronald Gedney Dr. Heidi Reynolds Mr. David Love Dr. Bob Hilty Agilent (recently retired) Alcatel-Lucent Alcatel-Lucent Celestica (recently changed companies) Celestica Cisco Systems Delphi Electronics & Safety Hewlett-Packard Hewlett-Packard IBM Systems and Technology Group iNEMI consultant Sun Microsystems Sun Microsystems Tyco Electronics

Table of Contents

I. Executive Summary	2
II. Background Statement	
III. General Guidelines for Migrating to RoHS-Compliant Finishes	3
A. Commonly Available Mitigation Practices	4
B. Other Viable Mitigation Practices, Less Commonly Available	5
C. Finishes that Should Generally be Avoided	6
D. Mitigation Practices with Further Study Needed	7
E. Applications of Concern	7
F. Other Considerations and Recommendations	9
IV. Electronic Component Lead and Terminal Finishes	10
Table 1: Component Lead-Free Finishes (Tin Whisker Test Requirements)	11
V. Separable Connectors	12
Table 2: iNEMI ratings for Whisker Risk on Termination	14
VI. Bus Bars	15
Table 3: Bus Bars – Tin Whisker Concerns	
VII. Heat Sinks	16
Table 4: Heat Sink Finishes and Tin Whiskers	16
VIII. Printed Circuit Boards (PCBs)	17
Table 5: Printed Circuit Boards	17
IX. Future Work	17
X. iNEMI Contacts	18

I. Executive Summary

The iNEMI Tin Whisker User Group consists of eight large manufacturers of high-reliability electronic assemblies. These companies, which annually purchase many millions of dollars of components, formed the User Group to develop recommendations for lead-free surface finishes for high-reliability electronic applications. These recommendations are intended to minimize the risk of failures from tin whiskers. It is the consensus of the iNEMI User Group that pure tin electroplating presents a risk in highreliability applications, and that there are cost-effective alternatives available to minimize this risk.

The industry has made significant progress in standardizing its approach to tin whisker mitigation and testing. Three standards/publications were released in 2005 and 2006 addressing tin whisker testing, environmental acceptance requirements and mitigation practices (JEDEC standards JESD22A121.01, Measuring Whisker Growth on Tin and Tin Alloy Surface Finishes, and JESD201, Environmental Acceptance Requirements For Tin Whisker Susceptibility of Tin and Tin Alloy Surface Finishes; and JEDEC/IPC joint publication JP002, Current Tin Whiskers Theory and Mitigation Practices Guideline). The User Group strongly supports and endorses the use of these documents as part of a comprehensive strategy of mitigation practices, tin whisker testing, and plating process controls necessary to reduce the risk of failures associated with tin whiskers.

This document updates the report originally published by the group in June of 2003 and last updated in May 2005. It presents recommendations for component finishes for a variety of applications and reflects the best judgment of the iNEMI User Group members, based on their own experiences and the available data. Twenty seven general guidelines for migrating to Pb-free component finishes have been used in developing these recommendations. This document is not intended to address mission critical applications such as aerospace. These guidelines are generally inadequate for those types of applications.

The User Group worked closely with JEDEC and IPC in the development of the JESD201 and JP002 documents. However, the tin whisker issue is not solved and continued emphasis on this topic remains important to the reliability of products. The current goals of the User Group are to maintain a focus on this issue and to continue to provide guidance to users and suppliers to minimize the probability of tin whiskers creating functional or reliability problems with our products. This result is achieved by a combination of known mitigation practices, process controls, and some level of testing. The tin whisker issue remains critical for reliability of electronic products. Billions of components are used annually, but it takes only a single defect to create a problem.

II. Background Statement

Unalloyed tin electroplating has a long history of whisker formation and growth that has resulted in reliability problems for various types of electronic equipment¹. The

predominant whisker mitigation strategy for more than 50 years has been the addition of lead (Pb) to the tin plating. Legislation has restricted the use of lead in electronic products sold in the European Union and many other areas of the world, and has resulted in electronic component suppliers removing Pb from tin-lead (SnPb) plating, leaving essentially pure tin. This approach is the most common and least costly lead-elimination strategy for the majority of component manufacturers. However, for the high-reliability user community, the pure tin strategy presents reliability risks due to the whisker forming tendencies of pure tin and tin alloy plating.

This report lists viable Pb-free finish alternatives for various applications. The positions presented are based on the personal experiences of the members taken in conjunction with the available technical literature on tin whisker formation and growth. The User Group also recognizes the ongoing work on whisker formation and growth carried out under the auspices of several consortia, including the iNEMI Tin Whisker Modeling Project, the iNEMI Tin Whisker Accelerated Test Project, and the University of Maryland's Computer Aided Life Cycle Engineering (CALCE) group (http://www.calce.umd.edu/lead-free/tin-whiskers/). Particular acknowledgement is made to the NASA Goddard Space Center website (http://nepp.nasa.gov/whisker/), which lists considerable background information on tin whisker problems and research.

Significant progress has been made in understanding whisker formation and fundamentals in the last few years. It is generally accepted that the driving force for whisker formation is compressive stress in the tin films². This stress can be from numerous different sources, including intermetallic formation, oxidation and corrosion, thermal cycling, or mechanical sources. There remains much to understand to fully characterize the whisker formation and growth process. Quantitative models that allow prediction and characterization of whisker growth do not exist. As such, the mitigation practices and guidelines that follow have their foundation in prevention of compressive stress build-up in the Sn films and a substantial body of empirical data supporting their use. Additionally, standard test conditions and acceptance criteria have been created. However, these may or may not be accelerated relative to actual field use conditions nor can they be directly correlated to use environment and service conditions. Therefore, any claims for "whisker-free" tin-plating processes, or guaranteed lifetimes without a whisker failure, must be regarded with skepticism at this time. The User Group strongly encourages continued research on tin whisker issues and mitigation strategies.

III. General Guidelines for Migrating to RoHS-Compliant Finishes

There is a great deal of new information in the public domain on tin whisker formation and strategies for migrating to lead-free surface finishes³. It is advisable to be fully aware of the available data and alternatives before making any decision. Each firm needs to evaluate the alternatives in terms of reliability risk and cost benefits for the market application.

The user should be advised that whisker experimentation has been notoriously inconsistent relative to growth rates, incubation times, and many other parameters.

Nevertheless, certain whisker mitigation guidelines have been supported by the iNEMI User Group. It is important for the reader to understand that the various mitigation practices and techniques discussed here are not always effective in reducing tin whiskers and should not be construed as whisker prevention methods, but rather as whisker risk reduction methods. Other material sets and combinations may be considered by some users if strong technical arguments are provided as to why they are efficacious in reduction of tin whiskers, and are backed up with tin whisker test data. Alternative mitigation practices and/or tin whisker test procedures must be agreed upon by the specific users and suppliers. Table 1 in Section IV gives an order of preference for Pb-free finishes.

A. Commonly Available Mitigation Practices (in order of preference)

- 1. Non-tin plating: Nickel-palladium-gold (or just plain nickel-palladium) should be strongly considered for lead-frame applications. This plating has a long history (1992-present) of field application⁴. Early solderability issues have been resolved. In addition, NiPdAu is not prone to whisker growth in most environments. The iNEMI User Group strongly recommends this plating for most lead-frame applications to retard whisker growth. However, users should be aware that molding compounds do not adhere as well to noble metals, such as Pd and Au, as they do to copper. As such, it may be more difficult for NiPdAu packages to achieve MSL 1 and 2 performance at the higher temperatures associated with SnAgCu Pb-free assembly. NiPdAu has also exhibited corrosion in accelerated tests using high hydrocarbon and sulfur atmospheres. Such corrosion has not been noted in actual field conditions.
- 2. Adding Pb to Sn plating mitigates whisker formation⁵. Although not viable for many products due to legislation restricting the use of Pb, there are numerous exemptions and "out-of-scope" products that may still use SnPb finishes. This has been the primary means of tin whisker mitigation for over 50 years and has an excellent field history. The iNEMI User Group strongly recommends the continued use of SnPb plating in exempted applications. Suppliers are encouraged to continue manufacturing SnPb finished components for these applications.
- 3. Adding a nickel (Ni) underlay between tin plating and a copper (Cu) base metal mitigates whisker formation (this is a key User Group recommendation). The underlayer plating may alleviate the compressive stress in the tin film, which is thought to be one of the driving forces for tin whisker growth. The thickness, porosity and ductility of the nickel plating are also very important to ensure an effective barrier layer for the copper. It is important to ensure that the appropriate values for these parameters are met even after lead forming. If the nickel layer is cracked or damaged during subsequent forming or other operations, it has been demonstrated to be an ineffective mitigation technique⁶. Similarly, the control of the tin bath impurities, particularly copper, is important to make this underlayer effective^{7,8,9}. Additionally, thin Sn films (up to 3μm) plated over a Ni barrier

layer may benefit from tensile stress generated in the Sn film from the NiSn intermetallic formation to partially compensate for compressive stresses generated from various other sources, such as thermal cycling¹⁰.

4. The User Group accepts the use of a 150°C for 1 hour anneal within 24 hours of electroplating as a generally effective mitigation technique for tin-plated copper alloy lead-frames. Annealing/heat treating has been an accepted tin whisker mitigation technique^{11,12,13,14,15,16,17,18,19,20,21,22} since 1962. Published authors generally recognize that annealing will increase the incubation time for whisker formation but delay times vary widely, from months to many years. Annealing may also reduce whisker lengths in comparison to non-annealed parts but the data is very sparse. Recent data²⁰⁻²² indicates that annealing changes the morphology of the intermetallic from an irregular Cu₆Sn₅ to a more uniform bilayer intermetallic compound consisting of Cu₃Sn and Cu₆Sn₅. Due to the variability in results it is recommended that annealing be accepted only when accompanied by supporting test data. Also see item number 23.

B. Other Viable Mitigation Practices, Less Commonly Available (roughly in order of preference – see Section IV Table 1 for order of preference)

- 5. Hot dip tin is a molten tin bath process that is not prevalent in lead-frame construction intended for electronic components, but it has been used for structural steel parts, connectors and devices such as relays^{23,24,25,26,27}. There is evidence that this mitigation process may not be effective with pure tin²⁸. Hot dipping with Sn-4%Ag or SnAgCu is generally an effective mitigation practice²⁹. Hot dipping with SnCu alloy may or may not be effective. When plated tin finishes are dipped following plating as a mitigation strategy, there may be areas of the termination that are not covered because of part geometry. These areas will have a greater risk of tin whisker growth than coated areas.
- 6. Fusing tin plating shortly after plating mitigates whisker formation^{30,31}. Fusing is a reflowing operation usually done by dipping the tin-plated surfaces into a hot oil bath. Some User Group members recommend fused tin based on excellent field history.
- 7. Plated SnAg (2-4% Ag) alloys in limited testing have shown promise in reducing tin whisker growth²². The User Group encourages further investigation of this finish as a possible tin whisker mitigation practice.
- 8. When added to tin in amounts of 2-4% by weight, bismuth may aid in suppressing whisker growth^{32,33,34} and can be a viable mitigation practice. Users should be aware that SnBi finishes used on Alloy 42 leadframes and soldered with SnPb will result in reduction of the solder joint fatigue life compared to a SnPb finished lead soldered with SnPb^{35,36}. This should be evaluated by the user relative to the acceptability in the given use environment. Concerns about tin-bismuth (SnBi) alloy finishes with low Bi concentrations in conjunction with

eutectic SnPb solder forming SnPbBi ternary eutectics are unfounded. There is a low melting point ternary eutectic formed between tin-lead-bismuth with a melting point at 96°C. However, it is not thermodynamically possible to form this ternary eutectic with small (1-5% by weight) additions of Bi to Sn finishes when soldered with SnPb³⁷. There is a ternary SnPbBi peritectic that is thermodynamically viable for Bi above 6% by weight in the component finish, and this peritectic has a melting point of 135°C. As long as the Bi concentration on the lead is less than 6%, the peritectic should not be an issue. With eutectic tin-lead solder, it is necessary to control the bismuth content of the finish between 3-5% so as to have enough bismuth to suppress whisker formation without getting into the compositional range of the ternary eutectic. In addition, keeping the Bi content low is required to retain solderability of formed leads.

C. Finishes that Should Generally be Avoided (in no particular order)

- 9. Silver finishes are not prone to whisker growth in most environments. However, rapid growth of silver dendrites or, in some cases, silver whiskers may form in the presence of H_2S (found in some cases where the environmental air pollution contains SO_2)³⁸. Additionally, users sometimes avoid silver finishes due to potential issues with electromigration and solderability shelf life.
- 10. Plated tin-copper alloys are not satisfactory finishes because copper enhances whisker formation and growth when included as an alloying element in tin plating³⁹. See item 6 for dipped SnCu finishes.
- 11. The User Group strongly recommends against the use of tin plating over brass without a copper or nickel diffusion barrier $\text{plating}^{40,41,42,30,15,16,19}$. If a copper underlayer plating is used, additional mitigation practices for tin on copper are recommended. The minimum thickness for the copper or nickel diffusion barrier should be 1.27 μ m.
- 12. In general, bright tin plating is not recommended. However, there may be specific applications where bright tin is a viable solution. Bright tin plating is not recommended without a nickel barrier layer or for soldered applications (ICs, passives, etc.). For non-soldered applications, some recent studies show that whisker growth from bright tin may be suppressed when a Ni underlayer and newer, lower carbon content bright tin platings are used^{43,44,45,46,47,48,49,50,51}. Note that not all references agree⁵². Given this, users may choose to evaluate bright tin over a Ni barrier for non-solderable applications. The nickel must be continuous and non-porous on all surfaces of the component. For components with internal cavities (e.g., BNC connectors) verification of the nickel plating thickness and coverage on the internal surfaces is critical. Historically, bright tin plating has been considered to be worse for whisker growth than matte tin plating⁵³. Bright tins have typically had more than 0.8% carbon content and higher, as plated, compressive stress levels than matte tins. Traditional matte tin platings had larger grains and lower carbon content than bright tins. However, new bright tin

platings that have low carbon content and purportedly low stress are commercially available. The carbon content can be as low as that of matte tin. However, it is important to understand that this is a relatively new development and further investigation is encouraged. Controversy exists regarding the role of grain size and carbon content in promoting whisker formation. Each of these may contribute to the promulgation of compressive stress in the tin plating. Regardless of the selection of matte or bright finish, a tin whisker test (as defined by JESD201) should be performed to assess performance of the tin plating. The grain structure (see guideline 14) and data on the stress level of the tin film over time may be useful in evaluating the suitability of this finish. Additional investigation of these new low carbon content bright tins is encouraged. For the purposes of this document, matte and bright tin finishes are defined by the following:

Parameter Matte Sn		Bright Sn
Carbon Content	.005%-0.050%	0.005%-1.0%
Grain Size	1µm-5µm	Less than 1µm

D. Mitigation Practices with Further Study Needed (in no particular order)

- 13. Adding a silver (Ag) underlay between tin plating and copper base metal has been proposed as a method to mitigate whisker formation, similar to Ni as noted above. However, there is limited whisker test data supporting the effectiveness of an Ag underlay for whisker mitigation⁵⁴. The User Group acknowledges the potential for this mitigation practice to be effective, and encourages further investigation of this technique.
- 14. A non-columnar grain structure with a significant number of horizontal and oblique grain boundaries (ideally an equiaxial grain structure) in a tin finish may reduce or eliminate whisker growth by facilitating reduction of compressive stress by diffusion (rather than whisker growth)^{55, 56, 57, 58}. The data confirming this mitigation technique is still very limited. The User Group encourages further investigation of this technique as a possible tin whisker mitigation practice. It is strongly recommended that the stress levels of tin deposits utilizing this technique be tracked over time and be confirmed to not build up in compressive stress over time.
- 15. Surface chemical etching prior to plating of copper-based alloys in limited testing has shown promise in reducing tin whisker growth when the etching depth is in the range of 3 to $4\mu m^{59}$. The User Group encourages further investigation of this technique as a possible tin whisker mitigation practice.

E. Applications of Concern

16. Corrosion (severe oxidation typically due to condensation of water) of Sn finishes has been theorized to be a significant source of compressive stress^{60,58} in

Sn films and can drive whisker growth^{61,62}. For applications where corrosion is a significant concern additional precautions, such as conformal coating or non-Sn finishes, should be considered in order to reduce the risk of tin whisker related failures.

- 17. Applications where a continuous mechanical compressive stress is applied to a tin finish (e.g., zero insertion force connectors on a flex cable interconnect) are particularly at risk for tin whisker growth and should be evaluated carefully by the user to determine if whisker growth in this application will result in reliability problems. Users should work with suppliers to find appropriate solutions in these applications.
- 18. Applications where significant thermal cycling occurs, such as power cycles, outdoor applications, etc., can create compressive stress in Sn finishes associated with the CTE mismatch of the Sn and base materials. Mitigation practices such as underlayer platings or annealing that address only the stress created by intermetallic formation are not effective for mitigating tin whisker growth in these applications.
- 19. Users should be cautious in using tin finishes on alloy 42 (Fe-42Ni) lead-frames in applications where there is significant thermal cycling. Sn(1-4%)Bi plating has shown promise in reducing whisker growth in this application. Additionally, low-porosity NiPdAu is available for this application from at least one leadframe supplier.
- 20. Immersion tin is a chemical displacement process that results in a relatively thin (<40 micro-inches or 1µm) and stress-free tin film. Whiskers have been grown on immersion tin by iNEMI team members, but the whisker lengths are typically limited to <20 microns. For some applications, immersion tin is a suitable minimum risk selection that has been successfully used by some of the iNEMI User Group companies. Solderability shelf life considerations generally make this finish inappropriate for electronic components. It is, however, one of the lead-free finish options for printed circuit boards⁶³.
- 21. When Sn is plated over steel, mitigation practices should be used to lessen tin whisker risk. Recommendations for mitigation include using matte tin greater than 5µm thick in conjunction with annealing at 180°C for 1 hour. (Other annealing times and temperatures may also be viable.) This can be done with or without a copper strike underlayer plating between the steel and Sn ^{64,65,66,67,68}. Nickel underlayer plating has also been reported to be effective on steel substrates⁶⁹. The User Group also recognizes the applicability of annealing for tin plated on steel and brass as reported during the 1960s, 70s, and 80s ¹¹⁻¹⁵. Annealing temperatures ranged from 100-190°C and annealing times ranged from 9 hours (at 100°C) to 1 hour (at 190°C).

F. Other Considerations and Recommendations

- 22. The User Group does not recognize the circuit board assembly reflow process as a mitigation practice. There is no consensus in the open literature to support assembly reflow as an effective process for mitigating tin whisker growth. There has been some data published that suggests that the assembly reflow process can result in an increase in whisker growth on loose components^{70,71}. Some whisker growth has also been seen on soldered components⁷². Partially reflowing plating on a given surface may increase whisker growth⁷³. This mechanism is not understood at this time, but factors such as part geometry and reflow solder coverage are likely to confound the observed data. There is also some limited data that suggests assembly reflow can reduce whisker growth on Alloy 42 base materials^{74,75,76}.
- 23. Industry data indicates that thicker tin finishes show a lower propensity for tin whiskers and/or a greater incubation time before tin whiskers occur^{72,77}. The User Group recommends tin thickness for components without a nickel or silver under-layer be at least 10 μ m nominal or thicker (8 μ m minimum preferred). When a nickel or silver under-layer plating is used, the minimum tin thickness should be 2 μ m to ensure solderability shelf life. Components that use nickel under-plating should have a porosity-free nickel thickness of a minimum of 0.5 μ m. Components using silver under-plating should have a minimum silver thickness of 2 μ m.
- 24. The use of conformal coating after assembly has shown some promise in reducing the rate of whisker growth. The effectiveness of this approach appears to be specific to the material types used and the environment. Data does not support conformal coating to be a cure for whisker growth. However, it does add an insulation barrier that may prevent shorting should long whisker growth occur^{78,79}.
- 25. The macro stress level of the tin deposit has an impact on tin whisker growth⁸⁰. Tin deposits that have tensile stress as plated and remain tensile with aging are preferred. Tin deposits that are compressive during service life are not preferred.
- 26. The effect of bias voltage and/or current on whisker growth is not well understood. In limited testing, there have been mixed results on the effect of bias on tin whisker growth^{81,82,83}. Bright tin has shown a significant bias effect on whisker growth in one test, but none on matte tin in the same test⁸⁴. One field failure for whisker growth on a bright tin also suggests that bias has an effect on whisker growth⁸⁵. However, in a number of unpublished tests on matte tin finishes, no effect of bias has been seen. Given the data currently available, the User Group does not believe that the effect of electrical bias on whisker growth is a significant concern, and does not recommend any additional testing of tin finishes for whisker growth with either electrical bias or current.

27. Since a full understanding of the tin whisker growth mechanism is still lacking, collecting data on the characteristics of tin plating is critical to help increase the knowledge level on parameters affecting tin whisker growth. JESD22A121.01, Measuring Whisker Growth on Tin and Tin Alloy Surface Finishes, defines data collection requirements for tin finishes. The User Group recommends data collection in accordance with that standard.

IV. Electronic Component Lead and Terminal Finishes

Electronic component lead and terminal finishes refer to the solderable finishes applied to electronic components. These include lead-frames for ICs, leads for other solderable components, terminations for discrete components, and solderable finishes applied to plated covers on electronic components. Lead-frames are the metal tabs that electrically connect the chip die to the printed circuit board. The majority of current lead-frames are made of copper or a copper alloy. In addition, some lead-frames are still made of an iron-nickel alloy (e.g. alloy 42). Typically, the lead-frames are purchased without a finish (or plating) and processed at the manufacturing site into a package. Tin lead-frame plating is done after the molding operation. Historically, the predominant lead-frame finish was a tin-lead alloy with typical nominal Pb content ranging from 7% to 37% Pb. However, this transitioned primarily to tin-based Pb-free alloys in the 2005/2006 timeframe. About 10% of the lead-frame finishes are NiPdAu, which is purchased in a pre-plated form by the component assembly manufacturer.

Table 1 (below) lists all the lead-free finishes that the User Group has identified as offered or proposed finishes for electronic components. For each finish, which includes under-layer plating if applicable, and associated base material, the finishes are placed in one of three categories. This table is specific to tin whiskers and does not directly address other possible issues and concerns with these finishes. Category 1 indicates that the proposed solderable finish will be accepted by the User Group without any tin whisker testing. Category 2 indicates that the finish will only be accepted if it passes the whisker test requirements given in JESD201, Environmental Acceptance Requirements for Tin Whisker Susceptibility of Tin and Tin Alloy Surface Finishes. Previous data generated according to the iNEMI Tin Whisker Acceptance Test Requirements may also be acceptable to users. A Category 3 rating indicates that User Group members consider this finish a high risk for tin whiskers and will not accept it in any case, regardless of tin whisker test data provided. The table summarizes what the majority of companies will accept for each finish. Suppliers should be aware that though this table represents the majority opinion, individual company requirements may vary.

	Base Material			
Solderable Finish	Cu (7025, 194, etc) (excluding Brass)	Low Expansion Alloy (Alloy 42, Kovar)	Ceramic (such as resistors and capacitors) – no lead- frame	
	Category	Category	Category	
NiPdAu	1	1	1	
NiPd	1	1	1	
NiAu	1	1	1	
Hot Dipped SnAgCu	1	1	1	
Matte Sn w/ Nickel underplate	2	NA	1 or $2^{(1)}$	
Reflowed Sn	2	2	2	
Matte Sn w/Silver underplate	2	2	2	
Hot Dipped SnAg	2	2	2	
Hot Dipped Sn	2	2	2	
SnAg (1.5-4%Ag)	2	2	2	
Matte Sn – 150C anneal	2	2	2	
SnBi (2-4% Bi)	2	2 ⁽²⁾	2	
Hot Dipped SnCu ⁽⁷⁾	2 or 3 ⁽⁶⁾	2	2	
Matte SnCu – 150C anneal (2% Cu)	3	3	3	
Bright Tin w/Nickel underplate	3 ⁽⁵⁾	3 ⁽⁵⁾	3 ⁽⁵⁾	
Matte Sn	3 ⁽⁴⁾	2	3 ⁽⁴⁾	
Semi-Matte Sn	<u>3(4)</u>	3 ⁽⁴⁾	3 ⁽⁴⁾	
SnCu	3 ⁽⁴⁾	3 ⁽⁴⁾	3 ⁽⁴⁾	
Bright Tin	<u></u>	3 ⁽⁴⁾	3 ⁽⁴⁾	
Ag (over Ni) ⁽³⁾	1	1	1	
AgPd (over Ni) ⁽³⁾	1	1	1	
Ag ⁽³⁾	1	 NA	1	

Table 1: Component Lead-Free Finishes (Tin Whisker Test Requirements)

Category 1: No tin whisker testing required

Category 2: Finish must pass tin whisker testing

Category 3: Do not accept this finish in any case

Color Coding for Table 1:

Preferred finishes

Finishes with preferred tin whisker mitigation practices

Finishes with tin mitigation practices that are less desirable than preferred practices

Finishes without tin whisker mitigation that are often not acceptable to users

Finishes to avoid

Notes for Table 1:

- (1) In general, tin whisker testing is required. However, users have accepted for approximately 10 years, and many will continue to accept, small discrete resistor and capacitor device components with a matte Sn over Ni finish. These devices are exceptions to the tin whisker test requirements but must meet all of the following criteria to be acceptable:
 - The Sn finish shall be matte tin as specified above (See Section III, item 12)
 - The Ni under layer shall be at least $2\mu m$ (80 micro inches).
 - The supplier shall have data to substantiate control of its processes to minimize whisker growth (see JESD201).
 - The devices must not require any lead forming or other stress creating operations after final finish.
 - Tin plating thickness greater $2\mu m$ (80 micro inches) is the minimum acceptable.
 - New component types must be similar in size and construction to previously accepted components.
 - Plating of new component types must use the same plating lines, chemistries, etc. that have been previously accepted.
 - New component types must pass whisker testing unless otherwise agreed to by user and supplier.
- (2) A number of users have restrictions on the use of SnBi finishes on alloy42 leadframes that are independent of tin whisker concerns. See Section III, item 8 for more information.
- (3) In general, although whiskers on Ag and AgPd finishes are not considered an issue, the User Group is very hesitant to accept these finishes due to a number of concerns including, but not necessarily limited to, electromigration and solderability shelf life.
- (4) A small number of users may accept these finishes for devices with lead spacing greater than 1mm.
- (5) Some exceptions exist where users may consider this option. See Section III, item 12 for more information.
- (6) There is significant disagreement among users as to whether this finish is acceptable, regardless of whisker test results.
- (7) Factors such as part geometry and solder coverage that result in thin areas of the finish may play a significant role in the tin whisker mitigation effectiveness of this finish.

V. Separable Connectors

A separable connector is defined as a make/break connector with a separable interface for interconnection and, typically, a second interface with a more permanent connection, such as a crimp to a wire or a solder joint to a PCB. Separable connectors include, for example, compliant pin connectors, bolt-on connectors, PCB connectors and cable connectors. Separable connectors usually have a nickel underlay beneath a film of gold, tin-lead, or pure tin.

Many connectors use tin as a solderable finish and use a precious metal in the separable interface. If the tin plating is completely wet during the soldering process, the likelihood for whiskering after soldering is greatly reduced. Thus, some companies may have different acceptance criteria for tin used only in the solderable interface.

Compliant pins (or press-fit pins) utilize a contact design where a portion of the contact is mechanically inserted into a plated through-hole (PTH) of a printed circuit board. The EU RoHS Directive has an approved exemption for the use of Pb in compliant pin terminations. As exemptions are to be reviewed every four years, this exemption may eventually be eliminated.

Compliant pins typically utilize a tin-lead plating to achieve reasonable insertion forces. Members of the User Group have performed testing on lead-free compliant pins and shown that the insertion forces and retention forces increase when the Pb is removed from the finish. This increase in insertion force is acceptable in most applications. The increase is most strongly linked to the switch from bright tin-lead coatings to matte tin coatings. Bright tin coatings have demonstrated insertion forces that are statistically equivalent or lower than bright tin-lead; however, any tin plating over nickel should be reviewed for whisker performance in a stress induced application.

Whisker growth can be accelerated by the high stresses exerted on terminal finishes used on bolted connectors. Bolted connectors are typically annular rings (ring lugs) that are bolted down onto a base metal, often with a Belleville washer assembly to maintain a high torque level over time. Many of these products have used pure tin finish for decades and many of them have generated tin whiskers. Each application must be analyzed relative to possible exposure to sensitive electrical circuitry. For example, bolted connections in the air stream leading to electrical circuitry could be considered a sensitive location. Whisker forming materials should not be used in sensitive locations.

Table 2 (below) summarizes the iNEMI User Group's ratings for connector finishes relative to concerns about whisker formation and growth. The first column tabulates acceptance of finishes for solderable terminations. The second column tabulates the use of surface finishes in a region of the product where the terminal finish is in the stressed separable interface and the connector spacing is "fine". We define "fine spacing" as contacts with a spacing less than or equal to 0.5mm. The third column tabulates the use of surface finishes in a region of the product where the terminal finish is in the stressed separable interface and the connector spacing is "large". We define "large spacing" as contacts with spacing greater than 0.5mm.

	Finishes for Separable Connectors			
Finish	Termination finish	Terminal finish use	Terminal finish use	
	use only as a	as a separable	as a separable	
	solderable finish	interface for fine	interface for large	
		spacing applications	spacing applications	
NiAu	1	1	1	
NiPd	1	1	1	
NiPdAu	1	1	1	
Ag (over Ni)*	1	1	1	
Hot Dipped	1	1	1	
SnAgCu				
Reflowed Sn	1	2	2	
Hot Dipped Sn	1	2	2	
Hot Dipped SnCu	1	2	2	
Matte Sn w/ Nickel	2	2	2	
underplate				
Matte Sn w/Silver	2	2	2	
underplate				
Matte Sn – 150C	2	2	2	
anneal				
Matte SnBi (2-4%	2	2	2	
Bi) w/Nickel				
underplate				
Matte SnAg (1.5-	2	2	2	
4%Ag) w/Nickel				
underplate				
SnCu w/Nickel	2	2	2	
underplate				
Bright Tin	2	2	2	
w/Nickel				
underplate				
Matte SnBi (2-4%	2	2	2	
Bi)				
Matte SnAg (1.5-	2	2	2	
4%Ag)				
Matte Sn (no	3	3	2	
underplate)				
Bright Tin	3	3	3	
SnCu	3	3	3	

Table 2:	iNEMI Ratings for Whisker Risk on Termination
	Finishes for Separable Connectors

1) No tin whisker testing required

2) Finish must pass tin whisker testing

3) Do not accept in any case

Color Coding for Table 2:

Preferred finishes

Finishes with preferred tin whisker mitigation practices

- Finishes with tin mitigation practices that are less desirable than preferred practices
- Finishes without tin whisker mitigation that are often not acceptable to users Finishes to avoid

Note for Table 2:

*In general, although whiskers on Ag finishes are not considered an issue, the User Group is very hesitant to accept these finishes due to a number of concerns including, but not necessarily limited to, electromigration and solderability shelf life.

VI. Bus Bars

Bus bars are typically copper or copper alloy. Aluminum may also be used in some applications. These parts are of particular interest because they are usually in close proximity to electrical circuitry. Whiskers on these assemblies can cause problems if they dislodge and short electrical circuitry. It is, therefore, prudent to avoid using plating material that is susceptible to whisker formation and growth. If possible, it is advisable NOT to plate bus bars when the application allows. In non-corrosive environments, the base copper metallurgy will tarnish slightly over time, but the basic function of the piece will be unaffected. Localized plating to enhance solderability or contact resistance should utilize platings other than tin when possible, or utilize tin whisker mitigation practices. Table 3 summarizes the recommendations of the iNEMI User Group.

Table 3: Bus Bars – Tin Whisker Concerns				
Finishes	Solderable	Base Materials		
	(Yes/No)	Copper Alloys (excluding Brass)	Aluminum	
None (unfinished)	No	OK	ОК	
Nickel	No	OK	Over Copper Strike Plating OK	
Chromium ⁽³⁾	No	OK	Over Copper Strike Plating OK	
SnAgCu Solder Dip	Yes	OK	Over Copper Strike Plating OK	
Silver ⁽¹⁾ (Immersion or Electroplate)	Yes	ОК	Over Copper Strike Plating OK	
Matte Sn ⁽²⁾	Yes	Not Recommended ⁽²⁾	Over Copper Strike Plating, Not Recommended ⁽²⁾	

Table 3: Bus Bars – Tin Whisker Concerns

Notes for Table 3:

- (1) Silver (Ag) plating, while frequently used for bus bars, is susceptible to corrosion in sulfurous environments or dendritic growth in the presence of moisture.
- (2) When utilized on bus bars as a finish, tin whiskers are a concern for this finish, particularly when bus bar connections result in mechanical stresses on the finish. As such, the iNEMI Tin Whisker User Group recommends that this finish not be used for bus bars. If Sn finishes are used, a tin whisker mitigation practice is recommended. This finish has been used on bus bars in many products for years,

so the application may still be acceptable even with tin whiskers. It is up to the user to make the final decision as to acceptance of this finish.

(3) Chromium finishes should not contain CrVI (Hexavalent Chrome).

VII. Heat Sinks

Heat sinks are commonly aluminum (including anodized aluminum), copper, or graphite. Graphite heat sinks are generally unfinished and tin whiskers are not a concern with graphite. Copper heat sinks generally require a finish, and may require solderability on some portion of the finish. Similarly, if aluminum heat sinks require soldering, they are typically selectively plated or solder dipped to provide a solderable surface. Lead-free plating finishes that utilize Sn are a concern for tin whisker growth as the use of heat sinks is typically associated with electronic components. Tin-based lead-free finishes should not be used when the heat sink finish is subjected to mechanical mounting stresses. Table 4 summarizes the recommendations of the iNEMI Tin Whisker User Group relative to heat sinks.

	Table 4. Heat Shik Finishes and Thi Winskers			
Surface Finish	Solderable	Heat Sink Base Material		
	Surfaces	Aluminum	Copper	Graphite
	(Yes/No)			
None (or	No	OK	OK	OK
anodized for				
Aluminum)				
Nickel	No	NA	OK	NA
SnAgCu	Yes	OK (Over Cu	OK	NA
_		Strike)		
Matte Sn over	Yes	(Over Cu Strike)	Tin Whisker	NA
Nickel		Tin Whisker	Testing	
		Testing Required	Required ⁽¹⁾	
Matte Sn	Yes	(Over Cu Strike)	Not	NA
		Not	Recommended	
		Recommended ⁽¹⁾⁽²⁾	(1)(2)	

 Table 4: Heat Sink Finishes and Tin Whiskers

Notes for Table 4:

(1) Tin whisker testing required per JESD201.

(2) This finish is generally not recommended due to tin whisker concerns. However, it may be acceptable if one of the preferred mitigation practices is used (see Table 1). Also, if the matte Sn surface is fully wetted by solder during assembly, the finish is generally acceptable.

VIII. Printed Circuit Boards (PCBs)

The surface finish on PCB lands (made of copper) are designed to protect the base metal against oxidation that could result in poor solder joints during assembly operations. HASL (hot air solder leveled) tin-lead finishes have been the coating of choice for most of the last fifty years. To comply with legislation, alternative Pb-free surface finishes must be considered. These finishes include organic solder preservatives (OSPs), immersion gold over electroless nickel, electroplated gold over electroplated nickel, Pbfree HASL, immersion silver, and immersion tin. Of these surface finishes, immersion tin is susceptible to the formation of pure tin whiskers and immersion silver is susceptible to the formation of silver sulfide dendrites. Both tin whiskers and silver sulfide dendrites can create electrical shorts; however, the formation mechanisms and the required environmental conditions are different. There have been no reported instances of tin whiskers on SnCu HASL finished PCBs. However, it should be noted that the use of SnCu HASL as a board finish has been very limited. For all of these finishes, individual processes vary tremendously relative to film quality, corrosion resistance, shelf life, etc., and the user should work closely with the process provider to evaluate each particular process. Aside from whisker and dendrite growth, other aspects of the surface finishes will affect selection, including cost, shelf life, solderability, manufacturability, corrosion resistance, and technical limitations with certain assembly processes, component types, and board designs.

Table 5 summarizes the assessments of the individual members of the iNEMI Users Group relative to the above PCB finish processes.

Table 5.11 miled Circuit Doards			
PCB Finish	Tin Whisker Test Requirements?		
SnCu HASL	Yes		
Immersion Sn	Limited		
Electroless NI/Immersion Au	None		
Electroplated NI/Electroplated Au	None		
Immersion Ag	None		
OSP (e.g. Entek)	None		

Table 5: Printed Circuit Boards

IX. Future Work

The iNEMI User Group meets regularly to consider implications of new data on tin whiskers. Changes and revisions to this position statement will be made as new data that warrants changes becomes available.

X. iNEMI Contacts

Parties interested in participating in iNEMI activities should contact Ronald W. Gedney (703-834-0330 or <u>rgedney@AOL.com</u>) for information. There are currently three ongoing iNEMI project teams focused on tin whisker issues:

- a. Tin Whisker Modeling Project Chairman: Dr. George T. Galyon, IBM Corporation
- b. Tin Whisker Accelerated Test Project Chairman: Dr. Heidi Reynolds, Sun Microsystems
- c. User Group Chairman: Joe Smetana, Alcatel-Lucent

In addition to the projects on whisker fundamentals and testing, there are also ongoing iNEMI initiatives dealing with lead-free assembly operations and materials.

³ George T. Galyon, "Annotated Tin Whisker Bibliography and Anthology", IEEE Transactions on Electronics Packaging Manufacturing, 28(1): pp. 94-122, January 2005.

⁴ S. C. Park and D. C. Abbott, "Nickel-Palladium Based Component Terminal Finishes", HDP User Group International, Inc., http://www.hdpug.org/public/4-papers/2005/finishes/ppf-final-report-ver2.pdf

⁵ S.M. Arnold, "The Growth of Metal Whiskers on Electrical Components", Proc. of the IEEE Elec. Comp. Conf., pp. 75-82, 1959

⁶S. Lal and T. Moyer, "Role of Intrinsic Stresses in Phenomena of Tin Whiskers in Electrical Connectors", iNEMI Tin Whisker Workshop at ECTC 2004.

⁷ W.K. Choi, S.K. Kang, Y.C. Sohn and D.Y. Shih, "Study of IMC Morphologies and Phase Characteristics Affected by the Reactions of Ni and Cu Metallurgies with Pb-Free Solder Joints", Electronic Components and Technology Conference, pp. 1190-1196, 2003.

⁸ J.W. Osenbach, R.L. Shook, B.T. Vaccaro, A. Amin, B.D. Potteiger, K.N. Hooghan, P. Suratkar, and P. Ruengsinsub, "Tin Whisker Mitigation: Application of Post Mold Nickel Underplate on Copper Based Lead Frames and Effects of Board Assembly Reflow", Proceedings Surface Mount Technology Assoc., 2004, pp. 724-734.

⁹ Dittes, M.; Oberndorff, P.J.T.L; Petit, L. "Tin Whisker Formation – Results, Test Methods and Countermeasures" Proc. 53rd. Electronic Components & Technology Conference 2003, pp. 822-826

¹⁰ Chen Xu, Yun Zhang, Chonglun Fan and Joseph A. Abys, "Thin Sn over Ni: A Practical and Effective Whisker Mitigation Strategy for Leadframe", Proceedings of IPC/APEX, 2006.

References:

¹ Tin (and Other Metal) Whisker Induced Failures, NASA Goddard Space Flight Center <u>http://nepp.nasa.gov/whisker/failures/index.htm</u>

² G. T. Galyon, C. Xu, S. Lal, B. Notohardjono, The 2nd iNEMI Tin Workshop, Orlando, FL, May 31, 2005.

¹¹ V.K. Glazunova, "A study of the Influence of Certain Factors on the Growth of Filamentary Tin Crystals", Kristallografiya, Vol 7, No. 5, Sep-Oct. 1962, pp. 761-768, translated from Russian.

¹² M. Rozen, "Practical Whisker Growth Control Methods", Plating, Vol. 55, No. 11, Nov. 1968, pp. 1155-1168.

¹³ M. Rozen and M. Renaud, "Effects of Temperature on Bright Acid tin-plated deposits", Plating, Vol. 54, No. 10, Oct. 1970, pp. 1019-1024.

¹⁴ N.A.J. Sabbagh and E.H. J. McQueen, "Tin Whiskers: Causes and Remedies", Metal Finishing, Mar. 1975, pp. 27-31.

¹⁵ S.C. Britton, "Spontaneous Growth of Whiskers on Tin Coatings: 20 Years of Observation, Transactions of the Institute of Metal Finishing, Vol. 52, Apr. 1974, pp. 95-102.

¹⁶ K.M. Gorbunova and V.K. Glazunova, "Present State of the Problem of Spontaneous Growth of Whisker Crystals on Electrolytic Coatings, Zaschita Metallov, Vol. 20, No. 3, May –Jun 1984, pp. 342-358, translated from Russian

¹⁷ K.N. Tu, "Irreversible Processes of Spontaneous Whisker Growth in Bimetallic Cu-Sn Thin Reactions", Phys. Rev. B, Vol. 49, No. 3, Jan. 1994, pp. 2030-2034.

¹⁸ B.Z. Lee and D.N. Lee, "Spontaneous Growth Mechanism of tin Whiskers", Acta Metallurgica, 46(10): pp. 3701-3714, 1998.

¹⁹ K. Whitlaw and J. Crosby, "An Empirical Study Into Whisker Growth of Tin and Tin Alloy Electrodeposits", Proc. 2002 AESF SUR/FIN Conf., June 2002, pp. 19-30.

²⁰ Dittes, M.; Oberndorff, P.J.T.L; Petit, L. "Tin Whisker Formation – Results, Test Methods and Countermeasures" Proc. 53rd. Electronic Components & Technology Conference 2003, pp. 822-826

²¹ Oberndorff, P.J.T.L; Dittes, M; Petit, L; "Intermetallic Formation in Relation to Tin Whiskers" Proc. of the IPC/ Soldertec International Conference "Towards Implementation of the RHS Directive" June, 11-12 2003, Brussels, Belgium, pp. 170-178

²² Oberndorff P., Dittes M., Crema P., "Whisker Formation on Sn Plating" Proc. IPC / JEDEC 5th Intern. Conference on Pb-Free Electronic Assemblies and Components, March 2004, San José, USA

²³ S.M. Arnold, "The Growth of Metal Whiskers on Electrical Components", *Proc. of the IEEE Elec. Comp. Conf.*, pp. 75-82, 1959.

²⁴ S.M. Arnold, "Repressing the Growth of Tin Whiskers", *Plating*, 52(1), pp. 96-99, January 1966.

²⁵ S.C. Britton, "Spontaneous Growth of Whiskers on Tin Coatings: 20 Years of Observation", *Trans. of the Institute of Metal Finishing*, 52: pp. 95-102, April 1974.

²⁶ K. Cunningham and M. Donahue, "Tin Whiskers: Mechanism of Growth and Prevention", *Proc. of the* 4th International Electronics Conf., SAMPE: pp. 569-575, June1990.

²⁷ P. Harris, "The Growth of Tin Whiskers", *ITRI Report – No. 734*, pp. 1-17, 1994. Available at <u>http://www.lead-free.org</u>.

²⁸ NEMI DOE 3 – presented at ECTC 2005, Valeska Schroeder et. Al. To be published IEEE CPMT Transactions October 2006.

²⁹ Qualification Test Report of Tin Whisker, ERCS05-002, January 21, 2005 Development Department, NEC TOKIN Iwate, Ltd.

³⁰ V.K. Glazunova and N.T. Kudryavtsev, "An Investigation of the Conditions of Spontaneous Growth of Filiform Crystals on Electrolytic Coatings", translated from *Zhurnal Prikladnoi Khimii*, 36(3): pp. 543-550, March 1963.

³¹ Telcordia GR78-Core, Issue 1, September 1997, "Physical Design and Manufacture of Telecommunications Products.

³² V.K. Glazunova and N.T. Kudryavtsev, "An Investigation of the Conditions of Spontaneous Growth of Filiform Crystals on Electrolytic Coatings", translated from Zhurnal Prikladnoi Khimii, 36(3): pp. 543-550, March 1963.

³³ G.J. Ewell, and F. Moore, "Tin Whiskers and Passive Components: A Review of the Concerns", Proc. of the 18th Conference on Capacitor and Resistor Technology", CARTS: pp. 222-228, March 1998.

³⁴ I. Yanada, "Electroplating of Lead-Free Solder Alloys Composed of Sn-Bi and Sn-Ag", Proc. Of the IPC Printed Circuits Expo, Long Beach USA: pp. S11-2 to S11-2-7, April 1998.

³⁵ Ki-Hwan Park et. al., "Reliability of SnBi Lead Finished Lead-Free Product", 2002 International Symposium on Electronic Materials and Packaging.

³⁶ Solder Joint Reliability SnBi lead finishes – NEC web site http://www.necel.com/pkg/en/pb_free/images/F0706_l.gif

³⁷ P. Snugovsky, J. McMahon, M. Romansky, L. Snugovsky, D. Perovic, and J.Rutter, "Microstructure and Properties of Sn-Pb Solder Joints with Sn-Bi Finished Components", APEX 2006, pp. S28-01-1 - S28-01-13

³⁸ Chudnovsky, Bella, "Degradation of power Contacts in Industrial Atmosphere: Silver Corrosion and Whiskers". Proceedings of the 48th IEEE Holm Conference on Electrical Contacts, 2002

³⁹ W.J. Boettinger, C.E. Johnson, L.A. Bendersky, K.W. Moon, M.E. Williams, G.R. Stafford, "Whisker & Hillock Formation on Sn, Sn-Cu and Sn-Pb Electrodeposits", submitted to Acta Met. (March 2005).

⁴⁰ S.C. Britton and M. Clarke, "Effects of diffusion from Brass Substrates into Electrodeposited Tin Coatings on Corrosion Resistance and Whisker Growth", Proceedings of the 6th International Metal Finishing Conference, pp. 205-211, May 1964.

⁴¹ R. Kawanaka, K. Fujiwara, S. Nango, and T. Hasegawa, "Influence of Impurities on the Growth of Tin Whiskers", Japan. J. Appl. Phys.-Part 1, 22(6): pp. 917-922, June 1983.

 ⁴² Y. Zhang, C. Fan, C. Xu, O. Khaselev and JA Abys, "Tin Whisker Growth - Substrate Effect. Understanding CTE Mismatch and IMC Formation" Proceedings of IPC/APEX, 2004.
 ⁴³ Hilty, R.D., "Bright Tin for Whisker Mitigated Electronics Applications", IPC/JEDEC 11th Conference

on Lead Free Electronics, Boston, MA, December 7, 2005

⁴⁴ Hilty, R.D., "Tin Whisker Qualification – Bath D", Tyco Publication 503-1004, Available at <u>http://www.tycoelectronics.com/customersupport/rohssupportcenter/pdf/503-1004 Tin whisker qualification testing.pdf</u>

⁴⁵ Hilty, R.D., "Tin Whisker Qualification – Bath E", Tyco Publication 503-1003, Available at <u>http://www.tycoelectronics.com/customersupport/rohssupportcenter/pdf/503-1003 RevA Tin whisker qualification testing.pdf</u>

⁴⁶ Hilty, R.D., Chou, G., Myers M., "Tin Whisker Qualification – Eye of the Needle Compliant Pin Products", Tyco Publication 503-1006, Available at <u>http://www.tycoelectronics.com/customersupport/rohssupportcenter/pdf/503-1006 Tin Whisker Qualification Testing CompliantPin.pdf</u>

⁴⁷ Crosby, J, Lau, D., "Bright Tin with Low Carbon Content for Plug Connectors", Galvanotechnic, 95(2), pp 311-322, 2005

⁴⁸ Sakuyama, S. and Michinori, K., "Substitute Materials for Complete Elimination of Hazardous Substances - Study of Whisker Growth on Lead-Free Plating", Fujitsu Scientific and Technical Journal, VOL 41 NUMBER 2, 2005 PP 217-224.

⁴⁹ J. Barthelemes et. al., "Quantification of the Influence of All Important Physical and Chemical Tin Plating Parameters on the Propensity for Whisker Formation", Proceedings of SEMICON Singapore, 2006.

⁵⁰ E. Long and J. Swanson, Investigating and Characterizing Reduced Whisker Growth from a Bright Pure Tin Process, Proceedings of IPC Works, September 2006.

⁵¹ C. Xu, Y. Zhang, C. Fan, J. Abys, "Understanding Whisker Phenomenon: The Driving Force for Whisker Formation", Circuit Tree Magazine, April 2002, pp. 94-105.

⁵² P. Kühlkamp, "Lead (Pb) – Free Plating for Electronics and Avoidance of Whisker Formation", Atotech Technical Publication available at http://www.atotech.com/data/publications/Pb free plating for electronics.pdf

⁵³ S.C. Britton, Spontaneous Growth of Whiskers on Tin Coatings: 20 Years of Observation, The Transactions of the Institute of Metal Finishing, Vol. 52, April 1974, pp 95-102.

⁵⁴ Oberndorff, P.J.T.L; Dittes, M; Petit, L; "Intermetallic Formation in Relation to Tin Whiskers" Proc. of the IPC/ Soldertec International Conference "Towards Implementation of the RHS Directive" June, 11-12 2003, Brussels, Belgium, pp. 170-178

⁵⁵ R. Schetty, "Whisker Growth Studies", Proceedings of IPC Annual Meeting, Session V, Paper B, October 2001, Orlando, FL, USA.

⁵⁶ R. Schetty, "Tin Whisker Growth & The Metallurgical Properties of Electrodeposited Tin", Proceeding of IPC/JEDEC Pb-Free Conference, May 2002.

⁵⁷ W.J. Boettinger, C.E. Johnson, L.A. Bendersky, K.W. Moon, M.E. Williams, G.R. Stafford, "Whisker & Hillock Formation on Sn, Sn-Cu and Sn-Pb Electrodeposits", Acta Materialia 53 (2005) pages 5033–5050.

⁵⁸ J. Smetana, "Theory of Tin Whiskers", IEEE CPMT Transactions, December 2006 and 2nd iNEMI Tin Workshop at ECTC, Orlando, FL, May 31, 2005.

⁵⁹ Wan Zhang, Andre Egli, Felix Schwager, and Neil Brown, "Investigation of Sn–Cu Intermetallic Compounds by AFM: New Aspects of the Role of Intermetallic Compounds in Whisker Formation", IEEE Transactions on Electronic Packaging Manufacturing, 28(1), January 2005.

⁶⁰ M. W. Barsoum, E. N. Hoffman, R. D. Doherty, S. Gupta and A. Zavaliangos, "Driving Force and Mechanism for Spontaneous Metal Whisker Formation", Physical Review Letters, 93(20), pp. 206104-1 to 206104-4, Nov. 12, 2004.

⁶¹ P. Su et. al., "A Statistical Study of Sn Whisker Population and Growth during Elevated Temperature and Humidity Tests", IEEE CPMT Transactions on Tin Whiskers, October 2006. Also presented at the iNEMI Tin Whisker Workshop at ECTC, 2005 available at

http://thor.inemi.org/webdownload/newsroom/Presentations/ECE/Tin%20Whisker%20Workshop%20May %202005/Statistical%20Study.pdf.

⁶² J.W.Osenbach et. al., "Sn Corrosion and It's Influence on Whiskers", IEEE CPMT Transactions, October 2006. Also presented at iNEMI Tin Whisker Workshop at ECTC, 2005. Available at http://thor.inemi.org/webdownload/newsroom/Presentations/ECE/Tin%20Whisker%20Workshop%20May %202005/SN%20Corrosion.pdf

⁶³ Draft IPC-4554, "Specification for Immersion Tin Plating for Printed Circuit Boards", 2005 by the IPC 4-14 Plating Process Subcommittee.

⁶⁴ M. Rozen, "Practical Whisker Growth Control Methods", Plating, 55(11): pp. 1155-1168, November 1968

⁶⁵ M. Rozen and M. Renaud, "Effects of Temperature on Bright Acid Tin-Plated Deposits", Plating, 54(10), pp. 1019-1024, October 1970.

⁶⁶ N.A.J. Sabbagh and E.H.J. McQueen, "Tin Whiskers: Causes and Remedies", Metal Finishing, pp. 27-31, March 1975.

⁶⁷ K.M. Gorbunova and V.K. Glazunova, "Present State of the Problem of Spontaneous Growth of Whisker Crystals on Electrolytic Coatings", translated from Zaschita Metallov, 20(3): pp. 342-358, May-June 1984.

⁶⁸ P.L. Key, "Surface Morphology of Whisker Crystals of Tin, Zinc, and Cadmium", Proc. of the IEEE Components Conf., pp. 155-160, May 1970.

⁶⁹ Dr. George Galyon, IBM, Private Communication, July 12, 2006.

⁷⁰ J. Osenbach, R. Shook, B. Vaccaro, B. Pottieger, A. Amin, P. Ruengsinsub, and K. Hooghan, "The Effects of Board Assembly Reflow Processing on Sn Whisker Formation," Proc. IPC/JEDEC Pb-Free Conference, Mar. 2004.

⁷¹ B. Rickett, G. Flowers, S. Gale and J. Suhling, "Potential for Whisker Formation in Lead-Free Electoplated Connector Finishes", Proceedings SMTA International Conference, Chicago, IL, Sept. 2004, pp 707-716.

⁷² Heidi L. Reynolds, "Accelerated Tin Whisker Test Committee Evaluations, Update Phases 4 & 5", iNEMI Tin Whisker Workshop at ECTC 2006, Available at http://thor.inemi.org/webdownload/x1private/Presentations/TinWhiskerWorkshop2006/Test_Update_Reyn olds.pdf

⁷³ Dr. Bob Hilty, Tyco Electronics, Private Communication, August 16, 2006

⁷⁴ Greg Henshall, "Impact of second-level board assembly on tin whisker growth", Green Supply Line July 21, 2006. <u>http://www.greensupplyline.com/shared/article/showArticle.jhtml?articleId=190900704</u>

⁷⁵ Greg Henshall et. al., "Impact of Second Level Board Assembly on Tin Whisker Growth for Alloy 42 TSOPs Subjected to Thermal Cycling", iNEMI Tin Whisker Workshop at ECTC, 2006, Available at http://thor.inemi.org/webdownload/x1private/Presentations/TinWhiskerWorkshop2006/Impact_Board_Ass y_Henshall.pdf

⁷⁶ M. Dittes, et. al. "The Effect of Temperature Cycling on Tin Whisker Formation", Proceeding of IPC/JEDEC Conference 2003.

⁷⁷ John W. Osenbach, Richard L. Shook, Brian T. Vaccaro, Brian D. Potteiger, Ahmed N. Amin, K. N. Hooghan, P. Suratkar, and P. Ruengsinsub, "Sn Whiskers: Material, Design, Processing, and Post-Plate Reflow Effects and Development of an Overall Phenomenological Theory", IEEE Transactions on Electronic Packaging Manufacturing, 28(1), January 2005.

⁷⁸ Thomas A. Woodrow and Eugene A. Ledbury, "Evaluation of Conformal Coatings as a Tin Whisker Mitigation Strategy", IPC/JEDEC 8th International Conference on Lead-Free Electronic Components and Assemblies, San Jose, CA, April 18-20, 2005.

⁷⁹ The continuing Dangers of Tin Whiskers and Attempts to Control Them with Conformal Coating, Jong Kadesch and Jay Brusse, NASA's EEE Links Newsletter, July 2001. http://nepp.nasa.gov/whisker/index.html

⁸⁰ G. T. Galyon, C. Xu, S. Lal, B. Notohardjono, The 2nd iNEMI Tin Workshop, Orlando, FL, May 31, 2005.

⁸¹ B. Hilty, N. Corman, F. Herrmann, Electrostatic Fields and Current Flow Impact on Whisker Growth, IEEE Transactions on Electronic Packaging Manufacturing, 28(1), January 2005.

⁸² D. Romm, D. Abbott, S. Grenney, and M. Khan, "Whisker Evaluation of Tin-Plated Logic Component Leads, Texas Instruments Application Report SZZA037A, pp. 1- 27, February 2003.

⁸³ P. Oberndorff, M. Dittes, P. Crema, "Whisker Testing: Reality and Fiction", Electronics, June 2004, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

⁸⁴ P. Oberndorff, M. Dittes, P. Crema, "Whisker Testing: Reality and Fiction", Electronics, June 2004, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

⁸⁵ NASA Goddard Space Flight Center, Anecdote #5: Field Failures Due to Tin Whiskers on Circuit Breaker Contacts, <u>http://nepp.nasa.gov/whisker/anecdote/2003ckt_breaker/index.html</u>